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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF SOUTH DAKOTA

Case No. 4:24-cv-4153

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION,
Plaintiff,

V.

QZ GLOBAL LIMITED,
QZ ASSET MANAGEMENT LIMITED, and
BLAKE YEUNG PU LEI,

Defendants.

COMPLAINT AND JURY TRIAL DEMAND

Plaintiff Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”), for its Complaint against QZ
Global Limited (“QZ Global”), QZ Asset Management Limited a/k/a Qianze Asset Management
Limited (“QZ Asset”), and Blake Yeung Pu Lei a/k/a Yang Pulei (“Yeung”) (collectively,
“Defendants”) alleges as follows:

SUMMARY OF ALLEGATIONS

1. QZ Asset, a China-based investment adviser, along with its purported holding
company, QZ Global, and the entities’ CEO, Yeung, engaged in a concerted scheme involving
multiple false statements to defraud hundreds of individuals out of millions of dollars. After raising
this money, Defendants stopped communicating with QZ Asset’s clients, and QZ Asset’s website,
which clients accessed to track their funds, was taken down. Clients lost all access to their accounts

and funds.
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2. Defendants deceived QZ Asset’s clients and prospective clients by falsely
claiming that: (1) QZ Asset would provide exceptional returns using artificial intelligence while
ensuring that clients’ “capital [was] 100% protected”; (2) QZ Global had taken steps to go public,
including submitting an application to have its common stock listed on the Nasdaq Global Select
Market (“Nasdaq™) and having positive interactions with SEC staff; and (3) certain well-known
and reputable firms were providing financial and legal services to QZ Asset.

3. Further, to provide an air of legitimacy to their fraudulent enterprise, Defendants
pointed clients and prospective clients to QZ Global’s SEC filings, which were available to view
on the SEC’s Electronic Data Gathering, Analysis, and Retrieval (“EDGAR”) system, but which
were materially deficient and incomplete.

4, As a result of the conduct described herein, the Defendants violated and, unless
restrained and enjoined, will continue to violate Sections 17(a)(1) and (3) of the Securities Act of
1933 (“Securities Act”) [15 U.S.C. § 77q(a)]; and Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934 (“Exchange Act”) [15 U.S.C. § 78j(b)] and Rule 10b-5 thereunder [17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-
5]. Additionally, QZ Asset violated and, unless restrained and enjoined, will continue to violate
Section 17(a)(2) of the Securities Act and Sections 206(1) and 206(2) of the Investment Advisers
Act of 1940 (“Advisers Act”) [15 U.S.C. §§ 80b-6(1) and 80b-6(2)], and Yeung aided and abetted
QZ Asset’s violations of Sections 206(1) and 206(2) of the Advisers Act, and unless restrained
and enjoined, will continue to do so.

5. The SEC seeks, against all Defendants: (i) permanent injunctions enjoining
Defendants from engaging in the transactions, acts, practices, and courses of business outlined in
this Complaint and from violating, directly or indirectly, the laws and rules alleged in this

Complaint under Section 20(b) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77t(b)], Section 21(d)(1) of the
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Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78u(d)(1)], and, as to QZ Asset and Yeung, Section 209(d) of the
Advisers Act [15 U.S.C. § 80b-9(d)]; (i1) disgorgement of all ill-gotten gains from the unlawful
activity set forth in this Complaint under Sections 21(d)(3), (5), and (7) of the Exchange Act [15
U.S.C.§ 78(d)(3), (5), and (7)] together with prejudgment interest; (ii1) civil penalties under
Section 20(d) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77t(d)], Section 21(d)(3) of the Exchange Act
[15 U.S.C. § 78u(d)(3)], and, as to QZ Asset and Yeung, Section 209(e) of the Advisers Act [15
U.S.C. § 80b-9(e)]; and, with respect to Yeung, (iv) an order barring him from serving as an
officer or director of a public company pursuant to Section 20(e) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C.
§ 77t(e)] and Section 21(d)(2) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78u(d)(2)].

DEFENDANTS

6. QZ Global, a South Dakota corporation, was formed on or about January 9,
2023. QZ Global has claimed that its principal office where it conducts its business is in
Watertown, South Dakota. QZ Global claims to be a holding company for QZ Asset.

7. QZ Asset is a Chinese company that claims to have a head office in Shanghai,
China and offices in Hong Kong, Japan, South Africa, and Malaysia.

8. Yeung, whose identity SEC staff cannot corroborate, is purportedly age 37 or
38. His state or country of residence is unknown. According to QZ Global’s Form S-1 filed with
the SEC, Yeung is the CEO of QZ Asset and QZ Global.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

0. The Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action pursuant to Sections

20(b), 20(d), and 22(a) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. §§ 77t(b), 77t(d), and 77v(a)], Sections
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21(d), 21(e), and 27(a) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §§ 78u(d), 78u(e), and 78aa(a)], and
Section 214 of the Advisers Act [15 U.S.C. § 80b-14].

10. Venue lies in this Court pursuant to Section 22(a) of the Securities Act [15
U.S.C. § 77v(a)], Section 27(a) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78aa(a)], Section 214 of the
Advisers Act [15 U.S.C. § 80b-14], and 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b). QZ Global is a South Dakota
company with a purported principal place of business in Watertown, South Dakota. QZ Asset
advertised its advisory services to the investing public globally through its website and social
media, which were available to view in this district.

FACTS
I. Background.
A. Relationship Between QZ Global, QZ Asset, and Yeung.

11. QZ Asset holds itself out as an investment manager for institutional and retail
clients and prospective clients that collects revenue from management and performance fees and
trading income.

12. QZ Global claims to be the holding company for the China-based QZ Asset.

13. QZ Global made all relevant SEC filings and undertook the purported initial
public offering (“IPO”).

14. Yeung is the CEO of both QZ Asset and QZ Global and is listed as a contact
person in SEC filings for QZ Global. Yeung is also captured in webinars marketing QZ Asset’s
advisory services and QZ Global’s purported initial public offering (“IPO”).

B. QZ Asset’s Investment Advisory Services and Advisory Accounts.
15. From at least October 2022 through May 2023, QZ Asset publicly solicited

clients to open advisory accounts. QZ Asset solicited clients and prospective clients to provide
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QZ Asset with funds, which QZ Asset stated it would invest on its clients’ behalf. The QZ Asset
solicitations were aimed at clients and prospective clients globally, including in the United
States, and were made using social media, particularly Facebook, WhatsApp, and video
streaming platforms such as Zoom and YouTube.

16. QZ Asset marketed its advisory accounts as “packages” or “contracts” where
purported guaranteed returns on investment (“ROI””) were tied to the size of the investment, with
larger investments being promised higher ROI. For example, in one “Easter Promotion” shown
below, QZ Asset offered a “2% Daily ROI” and ““a brand new iPhone” for those funding their

accounts with at least $10,000.

SUPER EASTER
PROMOTION

3, 25 o

IRP2 QIAM Packoge
X Muttipiier

e =
frorm 2th- April fo 30th April!
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17. QZ Asset clients opened their advisory accounts by signing up via QZ Asset’s
website and then providing QZ Asset with crypto assets, particularly in the form of Tether.

18. Once a client deposited money into their QZ Asset account, QZ Asset purported
to match the client’s deposit dollar-for-dollar, doubling the investment. This purported doubling

was reflected in client accounts.
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19. At least some clients entered into QZ Managed Trading Agreements (the
“Advisory Agreements”) with QZ Asset, in which QZ Asset claimed to open and maintain an
advisory account for the client and provide fixed weekly returns.

20. The Advisory Agreements provided that the client would pay “management fees
of up to 50%” of a client’s “initial deposit sum” if the client attempted to withdraw money prior
to a minimum holding period of 30 days. The required management fees were lowered the longer
the client kept their money in their advisory account.

21. QZ Asset encouraged clients to “be entrepreneurial” by recruiting more clients
to open accounts with QZ Asset, promising the recruiting client 10% of the new client’s assets
under management (“AUM?”) as an “affiliate bonus.” The more clients an existing client
recruited, the more bonuses were available to the recruiter client. In addition to the 10% of the
new client’s investment, QZ Asset promised international trips, luxury cars, and even a United
States visa as bonuses.

22. Among other claims, QZ Asset told prospective clients that it would provide
exceptional investment returns by using artificial intelligence—the QZ Big Data and Artificial
Intelligence (“BDAI”) analytics. QZ Asset claimed BDAI “provides high returns” in all market
conditions and effected trades in S&P 500 companies.

23. QZ Asset claimed its BDAI trading would generate guaranteed ROIs between
2.5% and 7% weekly, “capped at 400%” total. QZ Asset touted the simplicity of its services by
stating: “[a]ll you do is just invest, sit back & enjoy your weekly profit.”

24. According to the QZ Asset Company Prospectus 2022/2023 International
Edition (the “Prospectus™), Yeung’s “vision and ambitions” were “the key drivers for the

development of [QZ Asset’s] BDAI technology.”
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25. QZ Asset hosted biweekly Zoom meetings, on which Yeung often appeared, to
market its services to both prospective and current clients. Once a prospective client expressed
interest in QZ Asset, for example, by messaging QZ Asset through Whats App numbers provided
in marketing materials, that prospective client would be added to a WhatsApp chat through
which they would receive invites for Zoom meetings and other communications.

C. QZ Global’s Defective SEC Filings.

26. By at least February 2023, Defendants claimed they were preparing to take QZ
Global public by undertaking an IPO, including in their Form S-1 filed with the SEC.

27. On February 24 and 27, 2023, QZ Global filed with the SEC duplicate Forms 1-
A—a form used for securities offerings made pursuant to Regulation A [17 C.F.R. § 230.251 et
seq.], which is an exemption from registration for public offerings—seeking to offer $300
million of common stock. Yeung was listed as a contact person on both Forms 1-A.

28. Along with both Forms 1-A, QZ Global submitted a Form S-1, the registration
statement form used for registering securities offerings. Yeung signed the Form S-1, and it lists
him as the contact person.

29. On March 17, 2023, SEC staff sent a letter addressed to Yeung, as CEO of QZ
Global, notifying him that the Forms 1-A were not compliant with Regulation A as they failed to
name an underwriter and failed to include the required financial statements. The letter indicated
more detailed comments would be provided after Yeung filed a substantive amendment
addressing these deficiencies.

30. Neither Yeung nor anyone from QZ Global responded to the letter or submitted

additional or amended filings to the SEC.



Case 4:24-cv-04153-CBK Document 1 Filed 08/26/24 Page 8 of 29 PagelD #: 8

31. On October 24, 2023, SEC staff sent Yeung, as CEO of QZ Global, another
letter reiterating that QZ Global’s filings failed to comply with Regulation A.

32. Once again, neither Yeung nor anyone from QZ Global responded to the letter
or submitted additional or amended filings to the SEC.

D. QZ Asset and Yeung Encouraged Clients to Convert Assets in their Advisory
Accounts into Pre-IPO Shares of QZ Global.

33. As alleged above, by at least February 2023, Defendants claimed they were
preparing for an IPO. A February 6, 2023 QZ Asset press release claimed that QZ Asset had
raised $100 million from financial institutions and was seeking to offer and sell another 200
million shares to retail and institutional clients. The press release was available on the QZ Asset
website and an image of this press release was included in an undated presentation titled “QZ
Initial Public Offering (IPO)-NASDAQ” (the “Nasdaq Presentation”).

34, QZ Asset told clients and prospective clients in presentations and in webinars
they could use profits from their QZ Asset accounts to purchase pre-IPO shares in QZ Global.
QZ Asset stated that “QZ contracts” could be converted to pre-IPO “QZ Shares,” which would
ultimately become shares of QZ Global, which would become a public company.

35. QZ Asset claimed in presentations and in webinars that this conversion
opportunity meant that a relatively small amount of funds deposited in a QZ Asset advisory
account would become exceptionally profitable due to the QZ Global IPO.

36. For example, the Nasdaq Presentation, in a slide reproduced below, claimed that
a $1,000 investment in a QZ Asset contract would—within months—be worth $20,000 in shares

of QZ Global, which it characterized as “20X Capital Gains in under 6 months.”
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Phase 1 Pre-IPO

JODRY Private Placement AUG 23
4,000 QZ Shares @51.00 4,000 QZ Shares
@ . Listed on Nasdaq at $5.00
Invested in |
- e Converted to il
Nt QZ Contract L PO [@\n
Your Capital Total assets
$1,000 $4,000 4000 e -
(4xincome cap) s $20,000
20X Capital Gains in under 6 months
37. In an undated presentation posted to YouTube on or about February 23, 2023,

Yeung discussed this slide, pointing to the 20X capital gains as “the power of [an] [PO.”
38. Similarly, in another undated presentation made available on QZ Asset’s
website, QZ Asset claimed that a $2,000 investment in a QZ Asset contract would be worth

$32,500 in QZ Global shares in approximately six months, as shown below.

Example:
- John has a $1,000 Elite contract and a $1,000 Christmas Package
- He has a total Income Cap of $8,000

« So far, his contracts has paid out $1,000 and $500 in ROI respectively.
His total unrealized profit is $6,500.

POTENTIAL SCENARIOS

Converts on 24 Feb

Phase 1
Converted @ $1.00/share

6,500 shares

Value at IPO
$32,500

Converts on16 Apr

Phase 2
Converted @ $2.00/share

3,250 shares

Value at IPO
$16,250

Does not convert

Continues to enjoy daily ROI
until end of contract

Total Value

$6,500

E. QZ Asset Received Millions of Dollars from its Clients and then Disappeared.

39. QZ Asset had at least 285 clients globally, including several in the United States,

who collectively sent QZ Asset (and lost) at least $6 million.
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40. In approximately late-May 2023, QZ Asset’s website was taken down. Clients
could no longer access their QZ Asset accounts and had no way to withdraw their money.

41. Around this time, QZ Asset stopped communicating with clients and prospective
clients via WhatsApp chat groups, where clients received the bulk of communications along with
its website, and stopped hosting the weekly Zoom webinars on which Yeung often previously
appeared.

II. Defendants Made False and Misleading Statements.

A. QZ Asset and Yeung Made False and Misleading Claims About Client Assets Being
Completely Protected from Loss.

42. QZ Asset and Yeung made false and misleading statements in presentations and
in Advisory Agreements by repeatedly promising that clients would not suffer any losses, and
that their capital was 100% protected.

43. In an undated presentation provided to clients and prospective clients, QZ Asset
advertised that “capital is 100% protected,” as set forth below, and “What Matters to You,

Matters to Us. Dual Benefits, Zero Loss.”

What Matters to You, Matters to Us, ~ wee

3 Dual Assets Under Management (DAUM) = 200U
Dual Benefits, Zero Loss

DUAL BENEFITS
QZ Asset Management will match your investments dollar-for-dollar,
effectively doubling your Assets Under Management (AUM).
QZ Asset Management
A atchi
This new enlarged AUM is also known as Dual AUM (DAUM). St "”f‘o’[ﬁj e stop loss set at 50% of DAUM
All BDAI trades are executed with DAUM, effectively doubling all profits. - :a?guﬂay @ 00N g P
100U
ZERO LOSS

With a maximum stop-loss of 50%, DAUM ensures that your capital is
100% protected in the event of any trading mishap

10
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44. A very similar, though shorter, undated presentation was posted to YouTube on

or about March 13, 2023. The same claim made above was on a slide within the YouTube

presentation, and the audio for that slide stated in part: “QZ Asset Management’s slogan is: What

Matters to You, Matters to Us. Your peace of mind matters to them. The safety and security of

your investment matters to them. That is why they have pioneered an ingenious way to make

sure you experience zero loss of your capital with the DAUM [Dual Assets Under Management]

method.”

45. Further, the YouTube video’s introductory audio to this presentation, and a post

accompanying the video stated: “We hope that by the end of this presentation you will see that,

number one, the asset management company providing this presentation is not a fly by night

operation ... [and] that your investment capital is 100% protected ...”

46. Another presentation that was published on YouTube on or about March 19,

2023 made similar assurances, as shown below.

Key Takeaways (2)

Capital Assurance

+ Capital matching 1:1 and stop-loss at 50%
+ Ensure that your capital is 100% protected

QI Asset Managemen|
rmating Vales Bayend Weath

QZ Capital Protection Scheme

ilfustration

Dual Assets Under Management (DAUM) = 200U

QZ Asset Management
dolkar-for-dofiar matching
1aou stop loss set at 50% of DAUM
You
Capitat Outtay 100% Capital Protected
100U @
47. During this presentation, an individual introduced as QZ Asset’s marketing

director (and identified simply as “QZ Asset” in the video) stated: “The second thing I’d like to

share with you ... is your capital is 100% protect[ed].”

11



Case 4:24-cv-04153-CBK Document 1 Filed 08/26/24 Page 12 of 29 PagelD #: 12

48. During this same presentation, Yeung spoke and answered questions, including
claiming that the BDAI system was thriving and touting QZ Asset’s purported “stop loss
system,” stating, in part and in response to a question about risk management, “we have this
kind-of stop loss system to [] sell when we see the trend which is going down.”

49. Similarly, in a webinar posted to YouTube on or about February 5, 2023, Yeung
orally touted QZ Asset’s “consistently profitable and sustainable” business model and the
promised “weekly returns.”

50. QZ Asset’s Advisory Agreements similarly promised complete protection from
the loss of principal. The Advisory Agreements provided, “[y]our asset [sic] under management
will comprise of two components: 1) your principal deposit; i1) 100% capital bonus,” and then
explained under a heading of “Capital Protection” that “[a]ll asset [sic] under management will
be subject to a 50% stop loss limit under the Capital Protection Scheme. This shall serve as a
safeguard [for] your principal deposit.”

51. QZ Asset and Yeung made all of these statements regarding clients being
protected from loss. Each had ultimate authority over the statements.

52. A reasonable person would have understood from these statements that there
was little to no risk in investing with QZ Asset because QZ Asset and Yeung repeatedly told
clients their investment was 100% protected.

53. These statements were false and misleading because at least 285 clients lost at
least $6 million, which means their funds were not 100% protected. QZ Asset’s clients lost
access to their funds when QZ Asset’s website became inaccessible, resulting in client losses of

millions of dollars.

12
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54. These statements concerning the risk of loss were false and misleading when
made and Yeung knew or was reckless in not knowing, and should have known, that these
statements were false and misleading because he controlled QZ Asset and QZ Asset controlled
its clients’ advisory accounts and funds and, therefore, Yeung knew or was reckless in not
knowing, and should have known, that clients’ funds were not 100% protected.

55. Yeung’s scienter and negligence is imputed to QZ Asset because he was its
CEO.

56. The statements about the risk of loss were material to clients because clients or
prospective clients who were considering opening and maintaining accounts with QZ Asset
would consider the security of, and access to, their funds as important to their investment
decision.

B. Defendants Made False and Misleading Statements About the Anticipated QZ
Global IPO.

57. Defendants made false and misleading statements in registration statements,
press releases, and materials provided to clients and prospective clients by claiming that their
stock was to be listed on Nasdaq, and that they had conversations with the SEC, which had
approved the IPO.

58. In the Form S-1, filed in February 2023, a March 8, 2023 press release, and
other materials provided to clients and/or prospective clients, Defendants made false and
misleading statements about QZ Global’s efforts to have its stock listed on Nasdaq and QZ
Asset’s claims the SEC had fast tracked “approval” of the IPO.

59. Specifically, in the Form S-1, which Yeung signed, QZ Global stated: “We have

applied to have our Class A common stock listed on the [Nasdaq] under the symbol ‘QZAM’.”

13
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60. Similarly, in the Nasdaq Presentation, QZ Asset repeatedly referred to the
“NASDAQ IPO” as follows:

a. The first slide, entitled “QZ NASDAQ IPO,” explained that listing on
Nasdaq would: boost the company’s valuation, reputation, profile, and
credibility; allow the company to gain access to the U.S. capital market;
attract investment opportunities and world-class talents; and raise funding
for further research and development of BDAI technology and for global
expansion.

b. The fourth slide provided a timeline for the “NASDAQ IPO” and the fifth
provided a “PRE-IPO PLACEMENT ROADMAP” (shown below), both

of which showed a planned IPO on NASDAQ by August 2023.

B PRE-IPO PLAGEMENT ROADMAP

=

GMT 0700hrs
Closed on 31 Jan 24-Feb to 15-Apr 16-Apr to 15-May August 2023

Phase 1
Pre-IPO Placement
(Private Retail)

Phase 2
Pre-1PO Placement
(Private Retail & Institutional)

Private Placement
(Institutional)

NASDAQ IPO
(Public)

100M shares @ $1.00 100M shares @ $1.00 100M shares @ $2.00 60M shares @ $5.00

USS100M raised: Expected funds raised: Expected funds raised: | Expected funds raised:

3X oversubscription US$100M { US$200M ] US$300M

[eean et s

61. In an undated presentation posted to YouTube on or about February 23, 2023,
Yeung told clients and prospective clients that the purported IPO will result in “20X capital

gains in under six months.”

14
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62. In a March 8, 2023 press release, QZ Asset claimed to have “set terms for its
[IPO].... The company is offering 60 million ordinary shares in the [PO, which is expected to
price between $4 to $6 per share, on the Nasdaq exchange under the ticker symbol ‘QZAM.’”
Yeung is quoted in the press release as stating: “We have been working towards going public for
a while now and we are very pleased with the progress so far. An IPO listing will give us the
resources and impetus to take BDAI to the next level....”

63. In a March 23, 2023 “CEO weekly update” available on YouTube, Yeung
stated: “So let’s have some update on our QZ IPO. Positive discussions with SEC officials have
taken place following our Bangkok trip, and we are on track to list in August. Approval is
expected to come sometime in June .... ”

64. Further, on or around May 1, 2023, QZ Asset sent a memorandum titled “IPO
Audit Final Stage (Approval in principle)” to clients, published on their online trading portals,
stating that it had received updates from the SEC that QZ Asset’s application had been “fast
tracked for approval” and that a purported “financial audit will begin in May,” which, “once
completed, we should receive the approval-in-principle for the IPO to go ahead in June.
Everything is going as planned and we are now one step away from getting the [PO approval!”

65. This memorandum also announced that withdrawals from client accounts were
temporarily suspended because clients needed to submit tax documentation for processing by
“U.S. authorities” or be subject to a “30% withholding tax” on all purported income reflected in
the clients’ advisory accounts.

66. Similarly, in a May 1, 2023 CEO weekly update video posted to YouTube,
Yeung stated: “In these first four months of 2023, we have accomplished so much. In January,

we filed for our IPO and launched [a private placement].... We are now at the last phase of

15
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financial auditing by SEC, which will take between six to eight weeks.” Yeung went on to claim
that there would be “some inconvenience and disruption to our operations” during that time.

67. A reasonable person would have understood from these statements that QZ
Global’s purported IPO was moving forward, and that Defendants were in communication with
the SEC, who had approved of the IPO moving forward.

68. Defendants made all of these statements regarding the IPO and communications
with the SEC, who had purportedly approved of the IPO moving forward, and each had ultimate
authority over the statements.

69. Defendants’ statements about QZ Global’s IPO and its interactions with the SEC
were false and misleading because QZ Global never initiated a listing with Nasdaq; QZ Asset
never responded to SEC staff’s letters stating that its Form S-1 contained material deficiencies;
and SEC staff never “fast tracked” any of QZ Asset’s submissions, met with any QZ Asset
officials, or undertook any audit of QZ Asset’s financial statements.

70. Defendants’ statements about QZ Global’s IPO and its interactions with the SEC
were false and misleading when made and as the CEO of both QZ Global and QZ Asset, Yeung,
knew or was reckless in not knowing, and should have known, that these statements were false
and misleading because he knew Defendants had not initiated a listing with Nasdaq and had not
received any positive communications from SEC staff. To the contrary, Yeung had been told that
QZ Global’s Forms 1-A contained material deficiencies and needed to be re-submitted before
SEC staff would conduct further review.

71. Yeung’s scienter and negligence is imputed to QZ Global and QZ Asset because

he was their CEO.

16
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72. The statements about QZ Global’s IPO and Defendants’ purported interactions
with the SEC were material to clients and prospective clients because both would consider it
important to know whether or not they were purchasing pre-IPO shares in a company that was
actually going to become a public company and that the Defendants had not initiated the process
to list QZ Global’s common stock on Nasdaq, had not received positive communications from
SEC staff and, instead, had been told by SEC staff that QZ Global’s SEC filings contained
material deficiencies and needed to be re-submitted before SEC staff would conduct further
review.

C. QZ Asset and Yeung made False and Misleading Statements Regarding Well-
Known Service Providers.

73. QZ Asset and Yeung made false and misleading statements in QZ Asset’s
Prospectus and presentations regarding well-known service providers, including making false
statements regarding its auditor, legal counsel, and liquidity providers.

74. In the Prospectus, QZ Asset claimed that a specific Big Four accounting firm was
its auditor, a specific global law firm was its legal counsel, and two well-known financial providers
were among its liquidity providers.

75. In one Zoom webinar, previously posted to YouTube on or about March 19,
2023, a prospective client specifically asked about the availability of audit materials and Yeung
confirmed in his response that the Big Four accounting firm was QZ Asset’s auditor.

76. A reasonable person would have understood from these statements that QZ
Asset had relationships with well-known and reputable financial and legal firms.

77. QZ Asset and Yeung made all of these statements about QZ Assets’ relationship
with well-known and reputable financial and legal firms. Each had ultimate authority over the

statements. QZ Asset and Yeung’s statements regarding QZ Asset’s financial and legal service

17
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providers were false and misleading because these well-known and reputable financial and legal
firms did not have a relationship with QZ Asset or QZ Global.

78. QZ Asset’s and Yeung’s statements regarding QZ Asset’s financial and legal
service providers were false and misleading when made and Yeung, as the CEO of QZ Asset,
knew or was reckless in not knowing, and should have known, that these statements were false
and misleading because he knew or was reckless in not knowing, and should have known, that
neither QZ Asset nor Yeung had a relationship with these service providers during the relevant
period.

79. Yeung’s scienter and negligence is imputed to QZ Asset because he was its
CEO.

80. The statements about QZ Asset’s relationships with service providers were
material to clients and prospective clients because reasonable clients and prospective clients
would consider it important that QZ Asset had relationships with well-known and reputable
financial and legal firms.

D. QZ Asset Obtained Money or Property from Its Misstatements.

81. QZ Asset obtained money by means of the false and misleading statements
detailed above because QZ Asset used the statements to solicit clients who then provided QZ
Asset with funds for their advisory accounts.

III. Defendants Engaged in Fraudulent and Deceptive Conduct.

82. In addition to making and distributing the false and misleading statements
detailed above, Defendants engaged in additional fraudulent and deceptive conduct by
misleading clients about the reasons for not honoring their withdrawal requests and using QZ

Global’s SEC filings to lend legitimacy to their scheme.
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83. As detailed above, Defendants touted QZ Global’s purported IPO to induce
clients and prospective clients to invest with QZ Asset. To lend legitimacy to their claimed
efforts, QZ Asset and Yeung pointed clients and prospective clients to QZ Global’s SEC filings,
which are publicly available.

84. The Nasdaq Presentation included a slide titled “How to Search for QZ’s IPO
Filing,” with screenshots of the EDGAR webpage along with instructions on how to find the

Form S-1 (as shown below).

il HOW TO SEARCH FOR QZ'S IPQ FILING

U.5 SECURITIES AND Seareh SEC g8 a
EXCHAMGE COMMISSION GO LTS

1. Go to https://www.sec.gov
2. Under “Filings”, click on “Company ABCUT | DIVISIONS& OFFKCES | ENFORCEMENT | REGULATION | EDUCATION | FILINGS | NEWS

Filing Search”

3. Search for QZ's stock ticker “QZAM"
Filings & Forms

Al compamies, forsign and domsstic, are requirad to file registration statemnents. periodic repo
and olher Forms electronically through EDGAR. Anyone can acoess and download Bhis informal
for fres. Here you'l find |mks o a comglets lisd of fimgs available thiough ECGAR and instructid
for semching the EDGAR database.

4. Click on “S-1 filing” to view

85. Upon information and belief, Defendants never intended to complete an IPO or
for its Forms 1-A or Form S-1 to become effective, but instead to use QZ Global’s SEC filings to
deceive their clients and prospective clients. Defendants’ following actions demonstrate that the
SEC filings were made to deceive clients and prospective clients: (a) QZ Global’s submission of
Forms 1-A (which are for exempt—not registered—securities offerings) failed to include basic,
required information such as financial statements and Form 1-A’s Parts II and III; (b) Defendants
did not submit to the SEC any amendment to QZ Global’s SEC filings to remedy their

deficiencies; (¢) Yeung and QZ Asset made false statements about their communications with
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SEC staff; (d) Defendant did not acknowledge, much less disclose, SEC staff’s letters noting the
deficiencies in the SEC filings; and (e) Defendants disappeared with clients’ funds.

86. Yeung knew or was reckless in not knowing, and should have known, that
Defendants were touting defective SEC filings to clients and prospective clients.

87. Further, on or around May 1, 2023, QZ Asset sent a memorandum titled “IPO
Audit Final Stage (Approval in principle)” to clients stating that the SEC had “fast tracked” QZ
Asset’s IPO application for “approval,” and that a purported SEC “financial audit will begin in
May.” Both claims were false.

88. This memorandum also announced the suspension of withdrawals from clients’
advisory accounts pending submission of tax documentation for processing by “U.S.
authorities.”

89. Similarly, in a May 1, 2023 CEO weekly update video posted to YouTube,
Yeung claimed that QZ Asset was in the “phase of financial auditing by SEC, which will take
between six to eight weeks,” which would result in “some inconvenience and disruption to our
operations” during that time.

90. In approximately late May 2023, QZ Asset effectively disappeared. The QZ
Asset website stopped operating and clients could no longer access their QZ Asset accounts and
had no way to withdraw their moneys; it stopped communicating with clients via WhatsApp chat
groups, where clients received the bulk of communications along with its website; and it stopped
hosting the weekly Zoom webinars on which Yeung often appeared.

91. Yeung knew or was reckless in not knowing, and should have known, that he
and QZ Asset were deceiving its clients and prospective clients by ceasing communications

with clients and depriving them of access to their funds.
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92. Yeung’s scienter and negligence is imputed to QZ Global and QZ Asset because
he was their CEO.

IV.0OZ Asset Violated the Advisers Act, Which Yeung Aided and Abetted.

93. QZ Asset provided investment advisory services to its clients, held itself out as
an asset manager that engaged in securities trading, and solicited clients to open advisory
accounts. In exchange for its advisory services, QZ Asset charged management fees.

94, As an investment adviser, QZ Asset owed a fiduciary obligation to its clients. As
such, QZ Asset owed its clients an affirmative duty of utmost good faith, had an affirmative
obligation to employ reasonable care to avoid misleading its clients, had a duty to act in its
clients’ best interest, and was obligated to provide full and fair disclosure of all material facts to
its clients.

95. As alleged herein, QZ Asset breached its fiduciary duties by making the false
and misleading statements and engaging in the deceptive conduct set forth above.

96. As the CEO of QZ Asset, and based on his own personal conduct, as described
above, Yeung knew or was reckless in not knowing, and should have known, of QZ Asset’s
violations of its fiduciary duties. Yeung’s scienter and negligence is imputed to QZ Asset.

97. As alleged herein, Yeung knowingly or recklessly provided substantial
assistance to QZ Asset’s breaches of its fiduciary duties.

V. Defendants’ Conduct was in Connection with the Offer or Sale and Purchase or Sale of
Securities and Done Using Interstate Commerce.

98. Defendants offered and sold investments that are “securities” as defined in
Section 2(a)(1) of the Securities Act and Section 3(a)(10) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §§
77b(a)(1) and 78c(1)(10)].

99. Defendants’ conduct involved two types of securities.
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100. First, QZ Asset is an investment adviser that defrauded clients in connection
with providing advisory services to clients. QZ Asset claimed to be buying and selling securities
on behalf of its clients through its BDAI trading program.

101. Second, QZ Global’s pre-IPO shares were securities as they were stocks in the
future public company.

102. Defendants made and disseminated false and misleading statements and engaged
in deceptive conduct alleged above to induce clients to open advisory accounts which claimed to
invest in securities and to purchase “Pre-IPO Shares” of QZ Global, which were also securities.

103. The misstatements described above were made in written and oral
communications soliciting clients and investments by those clients and were contained in
Advisory Agreements, the Form S-1 filed with the SEC, and presentations provided to clients, as
well as in online chat groups and webinars for clients and prospective clients, in connection with
investments in securities.

104. In connection with the conduct alleged herein, Defendants, directly or indirectly,
singly or in concert with others, made use of the means or instruments of transportation or
communication in interstate commerce, the means or instrumentalities of interstate commerce, or
of the mails, including soliciting clients by providing documents containing false and misleading
statements via email, chat groups, the QZ Asset website, and webinars.

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF
Fraud—Violation of Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 Thereunder

[15 U.S.C. § 78j(b) and 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5]
(Against All Defendants)

105. The SEC realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 to 104 as though

fully set forth herein.
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106. By engaging in the conduct described above, Defendants, directly or indirectly,
in connection with the purchase or sale of a security, and by the use of means or instrumentalities
of interstate commerce, of the mails, or of the facilities of a national securities exchange,
knowingly or severely recklessly: employed devices, schemes, or artifices to defraud; made
untrue statements of a material fact or omitted to state a material fact necessary in order to make
the statements made, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not
misleading; and engaged in acts, practices, or courses of business which operated or would
operate as a fraud or deceit upon another person.

107. By virtue of the foregoing, Defendants, directly or indirectly, violated, and
unless restrained and enjoined, will again violate Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §
78j(b)] and Rule 10b-5 thereunder [17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5].

SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF
Fraud—Violation of Section 17(a)(1) and 17(a)(3) of the Securities Act

[15 U.S.C. §§ 77q(a)(1) and 77q(a)(3)]
(Against All Defendants)

108. The SEC realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 to 107 as though
fully set forth herein.

109. By engaging in the conduct alleged above, Defendants, directly or indirectly, in
the offer or sale of securities, by the use of means or instruments of transportation or
communication in interstate commerce or by use of the mails: employed devices, schemes, or
artifices to defraud, and/or engaged in transactions, practices, or courses of business which
operated or would operate as a fraud or deceit upon the purchaser.

110. Regarding violations of Section 17(a)(1), Defendants engaged in the conduct
intentionally, knowingly, or with severe recklessness. Regarding violations of the Section

17(a)(3), Defendants acted at least negligently.
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111. By virtue of the foregoing, Defendants violated and, unless restrained and

enjoined, will again violate Sections 17(a)(1) and 17(a)(3) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. §

77q(a)(1), (2)(3)]-

THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF
Fraud—Violation of Section 17(a)(2) of the Securities Act
[15 U.S.C. § 77q(a)(2)]

(Against QZ Asset)

112. The SEC realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 to 111 as though
fully set forth herein.

113. By engaging in the conduct alleged above, QZ Asset, directly or indirectly, in
the offer or sale of securities, by the use of means or instruments of transportation or
communication in interstate commerce or by use of the mails obtained money or property by
means of untrue statements of a material fact or by omitting to state a material fact necessary in
order to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which they were made,
not misleading, and QZ Asset acted at least negligently.

114. By virtue of the foregoing, QZ Asset violated and, unless restrained and enjoined,
will again violate Section 17(a)(2) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77q(a)(2)].

FOURTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
Violations of Sections 206(1) and 206(2) of the Advisers Act

[15 U.S.C. §§ 80b-6(1) and 80b-6(2)]
(Against QZ Asset)

115. The SEC realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 to 114, as though
fully set forth herein.

116. QZ Asset, while acting as investment adviser, directly or indirectly, by use of
the mails or means and instrumentalities of interstate commerce, acting with the requisite state of

mind: (a) employed devices, schemes or artifices to defraud clients or prospective clients; and
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(b) engaged in transactions, practices, or courses of business which operated as a fraud or deceit
upon clients or prospective clients.

117. By engaging in the conduct described above, QZ Asset violated, and unless
restrained and enjoined, will again violate, Sections 206(1) and 206(2) of the Advisers Act [15
U.S.C. §§ 80b-6(1) and 80b-6(2)].

FIFTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
Aiding and Abetting Violations of Sections 206(1) and 206(2) of the Advisers Act

[15 U.S.C. § 77q(a)]
(Against Yeung)

118. The SEC realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 to 117, as though
fully set forth herein.

119. By engaging in the conduct alleged above, Yeung provided knowing and
substantial assistance to QZ Asset, who, while acting as investment adviser, directly or
indirectly, by use of the mails or means and instrumentalities of interstate commerce, acting with
the requisite state of mind: (a) employed devices, schemes or artifices to defraud clients or
prospective clients; and (b) engaged in transactions, practices, or courses of business which
operated as a fraud or deceit upon clients or prospective clients.

120. Accordingly, Yeung aided and abetted and, unless restrained and enjoined, will
again aid and abet, violations of Sections 206(1) and 206(2) of the Advisers Act [15 U.S.C. §§
80b-6(1) and 80b-6(2)].

RELIEF SOUGHT

WHEREFORE, the SEC respectfully requests that this Court:
L

Find that the Defendants committed the violations alleged in this Complaint;
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IL

Enter an injunction, in a form consistent with Rule 65(d) of the Federal Rules of Civil
Procedure, permanently restraining and enjoining the Defendants from violating, directly or
indirectly, the laws and rules they are alleged to have violated in this Complaint;

II1.

Order that the Defendants disgorge any and all ill-gotten gains, together with pre-

judgment interest, derived from the improper conduct set forth in this Complaint;
IV.

Order that the Defendants pay civil penalties pursuant to Section 20(d) of the Securities
Act [15 U.S.C. § 77t(d)], Section 21(d)(3) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78u(d)(3)], and, as
to QZ Asset and Yeung, Section 209(e) of the Advisers Act [15 U.S.C. § 80b-9(e)], in an amount
to be determined by the Court, plus post-judgment interest;

V.

Order that Yeung be prohibited from acting as an officer or director of a public company
pursuant to Section 20(e) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77t(e)] and Section 21(d)(2) of the
Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78u(d)(2)]; and

VIL
Grant such other relief as this Court may deem just or appropriate.

JURY DEMAND

The SEC demands a trial by jury on all claims so triable.
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Dated: August 26, 2024.

Respectfully submitted,

s/ Jodanna L. Haskins

Jodanna L. Haskins

Attorney for Plaintiff UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
1961 Stout Street, Suite 1700

Denver, Colorado 80294

HaskinsJo@sec.gov

(303) 844-1000
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